215 Alliance, Community Stabilization Project, and Christine Learned,

                                                Plaintiffs,

v.

Andrew Cuomo, in his official capacity as Secretary of the Department of Housing and Urban Development; the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development; and Oak Grove Towers Associates,

                                                 Defendants.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA
Civil No. 98-64 DWF/AJB

PLAINTIFFS’ REPLY MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
Clarification

At page  7 of their initial Memorandum in support of their motion for summary judgment (Plaintiffs’ Memorandum) plaintiffs stated that residents of Oak Grove Towers were facing rent increases of $ 245 per month in October.   Plaintiffs actually face rent increases of  $125 to  $ 130 per month.   See, rents cited at page 6 of Plaintiffs’ Memorandum demonstrating rent increases of $125 for the least expensive units and $130 for the most expensive.   Under HUD’s policy a tenant with the average income at Oak Grove Towers ($8,504, See, Memorandum p. 4) will thus have to pay $125 per month or 17.6%  of income in addition to the current 30% of income, or a total of 47.6% of her income, in order to remain in her unit after October 1 of this year.

Discussion

I. HUD’ s Enhanced Voucher Policy Violates the Authorizing Statute and 42 U.S.C. § 3608.

The federal defendants accuse plaintiffs of ignoring the following “language of limitation” in Pub. L. 104-204: “…as a result of a rent increase occurring no later than one year after the date of prepayment.”  To the contrary, plaintiffs only insist that this language be viewed in its actual context.  What the quoted phrase limits is the basic eligibility condition for enhanced vouchers: that the family’s rent exceed 30% of income, “as a result of” a rent increase within one year of prepayment.  The federal defendants’ argument rests on the absurd assertion that the quoted phase instead limits the provision, located in a different proviso of the statute, that the resident’s rent be deemed to be the federal payment standard if the tenant elects to remain in her unit.

The federal defendants further assert that plaintiffs incorrectly  “assume” a Congressional intent to allow tenants such as those living in Oak Grove Towers “to remain in a specific apartment building.”   This is, in fact, Congress’ express intent.  The provisions of  the 1998 and 1999 VA and HUD Appropriations Acts authorizing enhanced vouchers are attached to this Memorandum and indicate that expenditures for enhanced vouchers are “to prevent the involuntary displacement of low-income families, the elderly and the disabled because of the loss of affordable housing stock…”   

The federal defendants argue that if HUD’ s “understanding” of Pub. L. 104-204  is reasonable, then plaintiffs’ case fails.  This apparent reliance by the federal defendants on the second prong of the analysis set out in Chevron, U.S.A. v. Natural Resources Defense, 104 S.Ct. 2778, 2782 (1984) is misplaced for two reasons.

First, it is the first prong of the Chevron analysis that applies here.  Chevron at 2781 (agencies must give effect to the clear intent of Congress).   Here, the intent of Congress is clear.  Enhanced vouchers are for the purpose of preventing displacement of residents due to loss of affordable housing.   Pub. L. 105-65 and 105-276, attached.  A tenant may elect to remain in her units and have her rent deemed to be the federal payment standard for “so long as” the local public housing authority finds it reasonable.
 The federal defendants’ policy set out in Notices PIH 99-16 and 98-19 (at ¶ 11.B. of each Notice) applies  the “normal…requirements of the program” to subsequent rent increases for persons who have elected to remain in their units  and thereby concludes that the “enhanced” features do not cover subsequent rent increases.   But under the express language of the  statute, the “normal” or “existing” program rules apply only to persons who have elected to move from their units.  The statute is clear that a resident may elect either: 1) to stay in their unit under the enhanced rent features; or 2) to move out of the building, in which case rent features are dictated by normal program rules.  HUD’s policy clearly contradicts this plain language of the authorizing statute.

Second, HUD’s responses to plaintiffs’ requests for admission admit that HUD did not perform any of the analysis of the effects of its policy on fair housing concerns which is the minimal requirement imposed by 42 U.S.C. § 3608. Response to Request for Admission No. 1, Cann Affidavit, Exhibit K ; See, N.A.A.C.P. v. Secretary of Housing and Urban Development, 817 F.2d 149, 155, 157 (1st Cir. 1987), (minimal obligation under § 3608 is to evaluate alternative courses of action in light of their effect on open housing.)  HUD justified this failure to comply with the minimal requirements of § 3608 by arguing that HUD’s policy follows the “strict statutory mandate” of the language of the statute.  Response to Request for Admission No. 1, Cann Affidavit, Exhibit K.   Now HUD is arguing that its policy is merely “reasonable.”    This reliance on the second prong of Chevron is misplaced.  An agency interpretation which is not required by the plain language of the statute is one which “involves reconciling conflicting policies.”  Chevron, at 2793.  It is “more a question of policy than of law.”  Pauley  v. Bethenergy Mines, Inc.,  111 S.Ct. 2524, 2534 (1991).  Such a policy judgment is clearly subject to the requirements of 42 U.S.C. § 3608, with which HUD admits it has not complied.  HUD may not substitute a policy adopted in violation of § 3608 for the policy which is clearly the intent of Congress: that enhanced vouchers avoid displacement of tenants by permitting them to elect to remain in their units and have their rents deemed to be the federal payment standard.

II. HUD is liable for permitting the illegal termination of project based section 8 contracts. 

The federal defendants’ Memorandum in opposition to the plaintiffs’ motion for partial summary judgement clearly demonstrates why the notice issue is not moot.  These defendants have never disagreed (a) that the owner did not provide a full year’s notice to HUD; (b) that HUD willingly and consciously construed the notice of extension of the section 8 contract as a notice of the owner’s intent to terminate the contract; and, (c) that rather than requiring a written notice with reasons for the termination, HUD accepted the owner’s verbal reasons, allegedly communicated to HUD after the extension notice.  These defendants have also not disagreed that these actions were in violation of the notice statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(c)(9).  Rather, they cavalierly asset that these illegal actions were all inconsequential.  Putting aside their consistently haughty disregard for the effects of such actions on vulnerable low-income tenants, it is obvious that the position of these defendants makes clear exactly why the notice issue is not moot.  

As plaintiffs discussed at length in their Memorandum in opposition to the defendants’ summary judgement motion, it is well established that the defendants’ insistence on the legality of their actions defeats mootness by increasing the likelihood that the plaintiffs will be faced with the challenged action in the future.  Doe v. Harris, 696 F 2d 109, 113 (D.C.Cir 1982); American Historical Ass’n v. Peterson, 876 F. Supp. 1300, 1309 (D.D.C. 1995)   HUD’s Memorandum  makes it clear that what happened with the notice at Oak Grove Towers was not a one time occurrence.  

Further, there continues to be ample evidence that similarly situated tenants in other projects have or will experience the same illegal notice process followed by HUD. Simultaneously with the conversion of Oak Grove Towers, the same owner followed the same process to effect the market rate conversion of Rivergate Apartments in Minneapolis.  Declaration of Ann M. Norton, ¶¶ 1-6 (“Norton Declaration”).   As with Oak Grove Towers, HUD’s gross failures to abide by the requirements of the notice statute facilitated the prepayment of the mortgage and the termination of the section 8 contracts at this complex.  It is fully expected that the consequences for the low-income tenants at Rivergate Apartments will likely be the same as those that will befall the Oak Grove tenants, that is, rent increases to be paid in excess of 30% of income leading to the ultimate displacement from their homes.  Norton Declaration. ¶ 7.

The situation was repeated again with a different owner and a different property.  In 1997, HUD accepted from the owners of Hopkins Village a 161 unit subsidized property in Hopkins, Minnesota, a notice of section 8 contract termination that did not meet the standards of the notice statute in that it did not provide reasons for the termination.  Once again, HUD accepted the clearly insufficient notice with total disregard for the statutory requirements.  The tenants of the property challenged the termination through litigation and ultimately were able to preserve the section 8 contract through settlement.  Norton Declaration ¶¶ 8-9.  HUD’s approval of termination of yet another project based section 8 contract without proper notice by the owner occurred at 383 Dayton and is described in the Affidavit of Cathleen A. Royce.

As to HUD’s interpretation of the purpose of the statute, it is wrong on two counts.  The clear directive to HUD in the statute is not to “enter a persuasion mode” it is “to avoid the termination.”  HUD failed to take the obvious step which would have accomplished that, one required by the plain language of the statute: find the owner’s notice did not meet the requirements of the statute.  

The statute requires that the tenants be given the same notice as HUD.  Section 1437f was originally enacted as section 263(a) of Pub. L. 100-242, title II, the Emergency Low Income Housing Preservation Act of 1987 (ELIHPA).  In the Conference Report for that statute the conferees “urge the HUD Secretary to work with all levels of government, as well as parties, such as tenant organizations” to preserve threatened affordable housing.  House Conference Report No. 100-246, p 195; 1987 U.S. Code Cong. Admin. News p. 3492.   ELIHPA was replaced in 1990 by the Low Income Housing Preservation and Resident Homeownership Act, Pub. L. 101-625, Title VI, which also amended § 1437f(c)(9) in which Congress designated, in Sec. 231, tenant organizations in assisted housing as “priority purchasers” of such housing to be assisted under the Act.  Congress has consistently recognized the role to be played by residents in preserving affordable housing.  It is clear that, as a result of HUD’s complicity in circumventing the requirements of the notice statute, local governments and the tenants were unable to play this role.

Conclusions

For these reasons, and those set out in Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in support of their motion for summary judgment, plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment should be granted.
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� See, Plaintiffs’ Memorandum at 16;  Plaintiffs’ Memorandum in opposition to defendants motion for summary judgment at 3.
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